LESLIE FERDERIGOS, B.A., J.D.,

ESQ. (RET.) Retired Florida Licensed Attorney

PROFILE

Seeking work where I can utilize my strengths in research, presentation skills, analysis, writing, verbal, knowledge of the law, leadership, and problem-solving skills.

CONTACT

PHONE: 407-919-3939

EMAIL:

leslieannferderigos@gmail.com

HOBBIES & SKILLS

Advanced research skills Proficient in Westlaw legal research Advanced Legal Skills Advanced Knowledge of Law Advanced Trial Advocacy Skills Proficient in formatting word documents Proficient in Microsoft Word Proficient in Excel Proficient in PowerPoint Proficient in Microsoft One Drive Proficient in One Note Proficient in Outlook Proficient in Adobe PDF programs Advanced negotiations skills Managerial Skills Self-Motivated & Hardworking Proficient in various virtual software for meetings and in court virtual appearances Advanced Knowledge in FINRA, SEC Regulatory Rules Advanced Knowledge in Federal Regulation procedures

AWARDS & RECOGNITITION

Voted Brevard County's Top Trial Attorney 2020

Won state appeals for various cases in the Appellate Courts of Florida

Selected for Moot Court Honors Board 2015

Selected for Law School Trial Team 2014

Presidential Honors Award University of Central Florida 1998-1999

Founder of Legal Advocates for Citizens with Disabilities

Featured in various ABC & NBC news segments for legal knowledge and success in Florida Cases.

EDUCATION

BARRY SCHOOL OF LAW

2012-2015

Doctor of Jurisprudence (J.D.)

Moot Court Honorary Board 2013-2015, Trial Team 2013-2015. Founder and President of Legal Advocates for Citizens with Disabilities. The only student out of 120 student class, to be chosen for both trial team and moot court honors board.

UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA

1995-1999

B.A. Organizational Communications, President Lists 1997-1999 for 4.0 GPA.

THE FLORIDA BAR ASSOCIATION

Florida Licensed Attorney (Esquire Status) 2016-2023 Member in Good-Standing obtaining Esquire status. 2023 Granted status of Permanent Retirement

WORK EXPERIENCE

FIGHTING FIRM, P.A., OWNER & ATTORNEY

MARCH 2016-MARCH 2023

- → Handled 120 cases as a single attorney.
- Responsible for solving various legal issues in the state of Florida for various clients affected by issues with statute interpretation.
- → Utilized advanced research, writing, verbal trial skills, negotiations to solve advanced and challenging problems for clients.
- → Created an organizational plan built to meet the needs successfully and efficiently for a voluminous list of clients.
- Utilized self-motivated skills to remotely manage employees and operate remotely.
- → Researched statutes, case law, policies & procedures at state court levels.
- Researched statutes, case law, policies & procedures at appellate court levels.
- → Researched statutes, case law, policies & procedures at Florida Supreme court levels.
- → Researched statutes, case law, policies & procedures at Federal court levels.
- → Researched statutes, case law, policies & procedures for foreign state court systems.
- → Wrote pleadings, contracts, briefs, for Florida circuit courts, appellate courts, and Florida Supreme Courts.
- → Participated in legal proceedings and legal arguments in Florida circuit courts, including northern, middle, southern counties of Florida.
- → Successfully changed Florida laws by successfully arguing various legal issues at the Appellate Court level.
- → Speaker at the Palm Beach Clerk of Court Guardianship Task force, teaching various members on how to discover legal abuse and fraud when reviewing circuit court dockets.
- Only Attorney in the state of Florida who successfully restored the rights of 9 wards in fraudulent guardianship cases.
- → Interviewed and featured in 5 news segments on ABC & NBC news for success in the restoration of rights to wards in fraudulent guardianships cases.
- → Strongly advocated for legal solutions and reform for injustices affecting the public.
- Worked on various programs to create court pleadings, attend virtual court mediations, hearings, and trials, manage virtual employees, participate in legal research, manage law firms' accounting, storage of voluminous documents, and communication with clients. Which include: Microsoft word, excel, PowerPoint, abode PDF, zoom, teams, Westlaw, outlook, eportal efiling system, one drive, and Clio.
- → Applied advanced legal skills in the areas of Broker-Dealer Regulations under FINRA and SEC, Rules Regulating Attorney Discipline, Federal Claims, Rules Regulating Medical Professionals, Administrative Hearings, Guardianships Laws, Family Court Laws, Business Laws, Property Laws, Securities Laws, Merger and Acquisitions drafting and negotiations.

NEWS SEGMENT LINKS:

ABC News: <u>Man faces legal hurdles to restore rights after guardianship (abcactionnews.com)</u>

NBC News: <u>'They Just Took Me Away' (reason.com)</u>

NBC News: Florida guardian program leads to woman being wrongly deemed incapacitated (wesh.com)

ABC News: <u>Fla. man freed after spending 7 years in guardianship</u> (abcactionnews.com)

TS Radio Network TS Radio Network: A major case of guardianship corruption in Florida. | The PPJ Gazette

Faceus Radio <u>guest Suzanne Straub Karen Berlin Jan Garwood Leslie Ann</u>
<u>Ferderigos 07/22 by Hidden Truth Revealed | Self Help</u>
[blogtalkradio.com]

APPEALS WON:

M.M.W. v. J.W., No. 3D21-2419, 2022 WL 3050338 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. Aug. 3, 2022), <u>reh'g denied</u> (Oct. 7, 2022)

<u>Warren v. Devanguardia</u>, No. 5D20-1244, 2021 WL 2493712 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. June 15, 2021)

GUEST SPEAKER, PUBLISHED LIVE INTERVIEWS, PUBLISHED ARTICLES:

Palm Beach County Clerk of Court Symposium on Preventing Guardianship Abuses and Signs to Look for in Court Docket 2020 (Guest Speaker)

"Slam the Gavel" hosted by Maryann Petri on the topic of Family Law and the Court System (Interviewed)

"How to Win a Parental Alienation Child Custody Case" live interview hosted by youcanwinin.com (Interviewed)

Michael Volpe Investigates Episode 20 live interview with Attorney Leslie Ferderigos (Interviewed)

Episode 11, Florida Attorney Leslie Ann Ferderigos hosted by Mark Reel Jr (Interviewed)

Help Me Take Down the Corruption in the Courts in Miami-Dade hosted by Michael Volpe (Interviewed)

How to Avoid Family Court, written by Leslie Ferderigos, Contemporary Family Magazine (Published Writer)

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT

DCA CASE NO. 3D21-2419 L.T. CASE NOS: 21-15143

M.M.W., THE MOTHER

Appellant(s)/Petitioner(s)

Vs

J.W., THE FATHER *Appellee(s)/Respondent(s)*

ON APPEAL FROM THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

/s/Leslie Ann Ferderigos
Leslie Ann Ferderigos
Bar No. 0127526
941 N. Orange Ave
Winter Park, FL 32789
Telephone: (407) 969-6116
Facsimile: (866) 249-8833
leslie@leslieannlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS2,3
TABLE OF CITATIONS4-7
INTRODUCTION8
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS8-11
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT12,13
ARGUMENT13-45
I. TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS WAS NOT NECESSARY TO PROTECT THE CHILDREN AND IS AGAINST THE STATUTORY INTENT OF CHAPTER 39
II. FAILURE TO ALLEGE SECTION 39.811(6) IN PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS
 III. FAILURE TO ESTABLISH GROUNDS FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS UNDER § 39.806 (1)(C)
D. Reliance of Child Hearsay Statements to Meet Requirements Under § 39.806(c)
E. Denial of Rebuttal Witness to Negate Facts Alleged under § 39.806(c)

IV.	FAILURE TO ESTABLISH GROUNDS FOR TERMINATION OF
	PARENTAL RIGHTS UNDER § 39.806 (1)(j)36-39
	A. Improperly Allowing the Final Judgment to Serve as a Case
	Management Plan
V.	TERMINATING THE APPELLANT'S PARENTAL RIGHTS IS NOT
,	THE LEAST RESTRICTIVE MEANS39-45
	A. Children Were Currently Being Protected by the Family
	Court 2020 Final Judgment
	B. Failure to Prove Reasonable Efforts
CONC	CLUSION45
CERT	TIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE46
CERT	TIFICATE OF SERVICE46

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES Adamson v. State, 569 So. 2d 495, 495 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1990)......31 Coyne v. Coyne, Cf. R.M. v. Dep't of Children & Families, 847 So.2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003)......4,20 C.B. v. Dept. of Children & Families, 874 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004)......4,40 D.P. v. Dep't of Child. & Fam. Servs., 930 So. 2d 798 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006)......4,29 D.M. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams., 79 So. 3d 136, 139 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012)......4,45 E.R. v. Dep't of Children & Family Servs., 937 So.2d 1196, 1198–99 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006)......4,45 Florida Dept. of Children & Families v. F.L., 880 So.2d 602, 609 (Fla.2004)......4,41

In the Interest of E.D.,

884 So.2d 291 (Fla. 2nd DCA
2004)5,18
In re N.S.,
898 So.2d 1194, 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005)5,20
In re J.B.,
923 So.2d 1201, 1205–06 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)5,20
In the Interest of G.C.A.,
863 So.2d 476, 479 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004)5,26
In the Interest of T.M.,
641 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1994)5,42
In the Interest of $Z.C.(1)$,
88 So.3d 977 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012)5,42
I.T. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams.,
277 So. 3d 678 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019)5,43
L.A.G. v. Dep't of Children & Family Servs.,
963 So.2d 725, 727 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007)5,45
M.H. v. Dept. of Children & Families,
866 So.2d 220, 223 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)6,26
M.E. v. Florida Dept. of Children & Families.

919 So.2d 637 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006)6,26
Montero v. Corzo,
320 So. 3d 976 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2021)6,33
Padgett v. Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services,
577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991)6,40
Q.L. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams.,
280 So. 3d 107 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019)6,30
Richardson v. Richardson,
766 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 2000)6,13
S.H. v. Dept. of Children & Families,
264 So.3d 1094 (Fla. 5th DCA 20196,19
S.S. v. D.L.,
944 So. 2d 553, 558 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)6,24
S.M. v. Florida Dept. of Children & Families,
202 So.3d 769, 778 (Fla. 2016)6,41
W.N. v. Dep't of Child. & Fam. Servs.,
919 So. 2d 589 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006)
Wax v. Tenet Health Sys. Hosps., Inc.,
955 So. 2d 1 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006)

Walters v. Keebler Co.,
652 So. 2d 976 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1995)
W.R. v. Dept. of Children & Families,
928 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006)7,40
FLORIDA STATUTES
Fla. Stat. Ann § 39.911(6)7
Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.0017,16
Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c)7,11,12, 23, 28, 30, 31, 32
Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806 (1)(j)
Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.8107
Fla. Stat. Ann. 39.806(1)(d)(3)7
Fla. Stat. Ann. § 61.137
F.S. Chapter 3914,16,17
F.S. Chapter 6116,17
PUBLICATIONS TERMINATIONOF PARENTAL RIGHTS, JUVL FL-CLE 17-1 HISTORY AND PHILOSOPHY OF THE JUVENILE COURT, JUVL FL-CLE 1-1

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from the trial court's Final Judgment of Termination of Parental Rights, granting the Appellees' Petition to Terminate the Appellant's Parental Rights. The Appellant Monica M. Wahler shall be referred to as the "Appellant" or by her proper name. The Appellee, Joshua H. Wahler shall be referred to as the "Appellee" or by his proper names.

Citations to the Appendix attached to the Apellant's Initial Brief are denoted as "App. [letter]; [page number(s)]." The transcript from the trial held by the trial court on July 27, 2021, September 3, 2021, October 12, 2021, and November 16, 2021, will be denoted as "TR. 07/27/21, TR. 09/03/21, TR. 10/12/21, and 11/16/2021."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant and Appellee were married on September 3, 2011, in Miami, Florida. During their marriage, the Appellant gave birth to two (2) minor children, L.S.W., born (03/10/14) and A.C.W., born (11/20/15). Three (3) years after the born of their youngest child, the Appellant, filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage on March 16, 2018. On October 23, 2018, the trial court filed a Final Judgment App. B, p. 33-36., incorporating a Marital Settlement Agreement

(MSA) and Parenting Plan (PP) App. A, p. 5-32. Under Clause VI & VII, of the Parenting Plan, the Appellant agreed to substance abuse testing, registration for Sober Link, and substance abuse counseling.

On May 2, 2019, the Appellee filed a Supplemental Petition for Modification of the Final Judgment App. C, p. 37-58., premised on allegations of the Appellant's behavior. On May 19, 2020, the Appellant and Appellee entered into a Mediated Settlement Agreement (MSA) App. D, p. 59-70., that was adopted by the trial court to resolve the Supplemental Petition for Modification of the Final Judgment App. E, p. 71-79. The MSA gave the Appellant a series of requirements to complete prior to enjoying timesharing with her children. During this time, COVID made its way to Florida, causing many tasks in the MSA to be delayed for completion.

Less than a year after the filing of the MSA, on March 25, 2021, the Appellee filed a Petition for Termination of Parental Rights App. F, p. 80-97., which alleged grounds that were limited to abandonment and substance abuse. On April 25, 2021, the Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss App. G, p. 98-100., alleging the Petition for Termination did not state a cause of action under § 39.806, specifically under § 39.806(j), as the Appellant argued there

had not been a three (3) year period preceding the filing of the petition in which the Appellant had refused or failed to complete available treatment. However, the trial court denied the Appellant's motion to dismiss and proceeded to move the case in dependency court forward.

On May 11, 2021, the trial court appointed Miguel Firpi, as the Guardian Ad Litem. App. H, p. 101-102. On May 21, 2021, the Appellee filed a more definite statement, defining with specificity the allegations for the factors determined under Florida Statute § 39.810. App. I, p. 103-111. On July 24, 2021, the Guardian Ad Litem filed his report. App. K, p. 120-143.

A three (3) day trial was held on July 27, 2021, September 3, 2021, and October 12, 2021. On November 16, 2021, the trial court gave an oral ruling following by the filing of a Final Judgment, in which the court made the following findings: App. O, p. 228-274

- A. Grounds for severing one parents right without severing the other parents' rights were found under Section 39.911(6)
- B. Ground for Termination of Parental Rights were found under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c)
- C. Ground for Termination of Parental Rights were found under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806 (1)(j)

- D. Termination of Parental Rights was found to be the least restrictive means
- E. Termination of Parental Rights was found to be in the Manifest Best Interest of the Children under Florida Statute § 39.810

The Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal in this Court (Third

DCA Case No.: 3D21-2419)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's final judgment granting the termination of parental rights should be reversed for multiple reasons. The trial court granted relief not pled in the Appellee's Petition for Termination of Parental Rights when findings were made under Section 39.811(6) and Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c). Thus, depriving the Appellant of due process. The trial court abused their discretion in relying on child hearsay statements and non-qualified witness testimony to substantiate the grounds to prove Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c), after the Appellee failed to allege these grounds in his Petition for Termination. The trial court abused their discretion and irreversibly errored in striking the Appellant's rebuttal witness.

Moreover, these unreliable facts relied by the trial court in the final judgment do not satisfy the grounds for termination of parental rights nor do they satisfy that termination of parental rights would be the least restrictive means when there was a family law final judgment in place for the protection of the children to was working. Lastly, the trial court's final judgment not only violates the Appellant's due process, it violates public policy and the legislative intent behind Chapter 39 when the trial court relied on a family law

final judgment intended to serve as a "step-up" plan for timesharing under § 61.13 to serve as a case management plan under Chapter 39 to justify the termination of parental rights.

ARGUMENT

I. TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS WAS NOT NECESSARY TO PROTECT THE CHILDREN AND IS AGAINST THE STATUTORY INTENT OF CHAPTER 39

The law does not take lightly the significance of terminating a parent's right to a child. The Florida Supreme Court continues to recognize that parents have a fundamental right to privacy in rearing their children. See, *e.g.*, *Richardson v. Richardson*, 766 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 2000). Consequently, the law ensures that there are procedural and substantive safeguards in place for the parent, while recognizing the paramount concern: the best interests of the child.

A. The Children Did Not Have a Need for "Permanency"

Permanency of placement for children is one of the main intents for terminating parental rights. Termination of parental rights is primarily a process by which parental rights are terminated and a child is permanently committed to the custody of the Department of Children and Families (the department) for the purpose of adoption under *F.S.* Chapter 39. Permanency for the child, whether in the home of the parents or in another home, is the driving force behind *F.S.* Chapter 39 and the purpose of a termination of parental rights action.TERMINATIONOF PARENTAL RIGHTS, JUVL FL-CLE 17-1 c

B. The Children Were Already Protected by the Family Court Final Judgment

Although unified family court is a single court system with comprehensive jurisdiction over all cases involving children and relating to families, juvenile issues rely on statutes far different from statutes relied on for family issues. Juvenile court issues are expected to treat children as wards of the state where the state steps in to exercise guardianship over a child and apply the doctrine of parens patriae. Statutory provisions relating to juvenile proceedings are found primarily in F.S. Chapters 39, 984, and 985.HISTORY AND PHILOSOPHY OF THE JUVENILE COURT, JUVL FL-CLE 1-1. Family law issues are primarily found in F.S Chapter 61. The court under F.S Ch. 61 is required to evaluate all factors affecting the welfare and interests of the child, including without limitation any evidence of child abuse and, in addition to a long list of factors, any other fact considered by the court to be relevant FLA. STAT.

§61.13(3)(l) and (m) (2007). Upon a finding of detriment to the child, the court can order sole parental responsibility with or without visitation. Certainly, the court in a *F.S* Ch. 61, or other family law proceeding, can enter an order which limits or even eliminates visitation and contact by a parent with a child to protect the children from abuse by the parent. A trial court has broad discretion to restrict visitation when necessary to protect the welfare of the children, provided that restrictions on visitation must be supported by some evidence in the record showing that they are necessary. FLA. STAT. §61.13(2)(b) (2007). *Coyne v. Coyne*, 895 So. 2d 469, 473 (Fla. 2d D.C.A. 2005).

In the instant case, the Final Judgment entered on May 19, 2020, served to protect the children and provide them permanency. This final judgment was successfully working without the need to legally terminate the Appellant's *legal* parental rights. Terminating the Appellant's parental rights did nothing more then deprive the children of their right to child support, among other rights, such as inheritance rights.

C. There Was No Need for State Protection of the Children

Under public policy, the intent behind chapter 39 is to provide for prevention and intervention through the department's child protection system. Although some 3rd parties, have standing to initiate termination of parental rights proceedings, Chapter 39 was intended to be used by the department acting on behalf of the state to protect children, strengthen a child's family ties, and ensure permanent placement of a child by not allowing a child to remain in foster care longer than one (1) year.

Hence, the reason for the strict time requirements and state funded services offered to parents and children in dependency cases. The intent of Chapter 39 was to offer procedures for the *state* to protect children. The final judgment terminating parental rights in the instant case, goes against statutory intent by allowing a parent to use *F.S.* Chapter 39 to remedy non-compliance of a *F.S.* Chapter 61 family court judgment. Moreover, in *F.S.* Chapter 39 cases, where one parent has not been rehabilitated and the child is safe with the other parent, it is not proper to file to terminate parental rights. The court simply creates an order and places the child with the parent considered to be safe until the other parent can provide evidence to modify the restricted order. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.001 (West).

D. Public Policy Concerns

The Final Judgment in this case not only goes against F.S. Chapter 39 statutory intent, but it opens the door to parties using F.S. Chapter 39 to remedy non-compliance of F.S. Chapter 61 judgments. Clearly, there are remedies available for non-compliance of F.S. Chapter 61 judgments and they should be utilized. Furthermore, if courts allow termination of parental rights to be sought out from non-compliance of a F.S. Chapter 61 judgment, a party is deprived reasonable efforts a state is required to give parents in achieving rehabilitation. Thus, is creates a loophole in the system that lowers the standard in termination of parental rights cases and modifies the requirements for least restrictive means. This could open the door to an influx of parents seeking to evade child support for the benefit of the children.

Additionally, this final judgment alters and redefines harm to a child under *F.S.* Chapter 39, by re-defining "harm" to include a parent's inability to see a child based on a *F.S.* Chapter 61 order that was acting to protect the child. This would encourage a large influx of parents to file petitions to terminate parental rights under *F.S.* Chapter 39, to evade financial responsible to their children. Parents

involved in highly contentious litigation, where one parent's timesharing has been restricted and step-up plans ordered, would use *F.S.* Chapter 39, petitions for termination of parental rights as remedies rather than seeking petitions for modifications in family court cases. Thus, allowing this *F.S.* Chapter 39, final judgment to stand would be detrimental to the intent behind *F.S.* Chapter 39.

II. FAILURE TO ALLEGE SECTION 39.811(6) IN PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS

It is required, that *F.S.* 39.811(6)(e) be alleged in the termination of parental rights (TPR) petition if there is a chance that only one parent's rights will be terminated. *In the Interest of E.D.*, 884 So.2d 291 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004). In the Appellee's Petition for Termination of Parental right failed to cite any statutory grounds for a termination of parental rights. Although, later Appellee stated he was seeking termination under § 39.806(j) and § 39.806(b). Regardless, the Petition for TPR, was never amended to include these grounds. More concerning is the trial court severed parental rights, under §39.811(6) and Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(c), which was never pled by the Appellee. Thus, the Appellant's due process was violated when notice was never given for the Appellant to defend on these

grounds. well established It is in the law, that, "terminating parental rights on a ground not pled constitutes a denial of the procedural due process rights of notice and fair hearing." S.H. v. Dept. of Children & Families, 264 So.3d 1094 (Fla. 5th DCA 2019) Fla Stat. §39.811(6) main intent was to be used if there was continued harm to a child. Not only was the Appellant not given notice to this intended argument, but the trial court allowed testimony on this argument to be presented, while denying the Appellant the ability to rebut this testimony when the trial court struck the Appellant's rebuttal witness and denied the Appellant's ore tenus motion for continuance.

Despite these due process violations, there was no evidence of continuing serious harm on the children, that would warrant a single parent adoption. The Appellee attempts to argue the Appellants non-voluntary absence from the children's lives constitutes serious harm and terminating the parental rights of the Appellant would give the children closure. However, it has been similarly argued in cases where a parent is incarcerated, and the courts have not found that reason to terminate an incarcerated parents rights. In the 2nd DCA, "[A] trial court was precluded from terminating parental rights on the

statutory ground that continuing the parental relationship with the incarcerated parent would be harmful to the child under section 39.806(1)(d)(3) where no evidence regarding the impact of continuing the parent-child relationship is offered." *In re N.S.*, 898 So.2d 1194, 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). Parental rights are a "fundamental liberty interest" that cannot be terminated based on incarceration alone. *In re J.B.*, 923 So.2d 1201, 1205–06 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006).

In the instant case there was no evidence of continued serious harm to the children. In fact, Appellee's own witness Dr. Stone, testified that the children were in therapy to deal with not seeing their mother, and could give no evidence of any act the mother engaged in the harmed the children. A case that have relied on similar arguments and successfully demonstrated continued harm, had two (2) therapist who testified a parent was "extremely detrimental to the children's mental health," and would 'completely destroy' " the child *Cf. R.M. v. Dep't of Children & Families*, 847 So.2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) The therapist in the instant case said nothing that would rise to the level of the testimony given in *Cf. R.M. v. Dep't of Children & Families*.

For the above-mentioned reasons, the trial court's final judgment should be vacated based in the inability to correctly apply F.S. 39.811(6).

III. FAILURE TO ESTABLISH GROUNDS FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS UNDER § 39.806 (1)(C)

Under § 39.806(1)(c), it must be found that a parent's *continuing* involvement in a parent-child relationship threatens the life, safety, well-being, or physical, mental, or emotional health of the child irrespective of the provision of services.

Under § 39.806(1)(c), the trial court would need to make finding of facts to demonstrate the Appellant's behavior has caused some type of harm to the children that would continue should the Appellant continue to have legal parental rights. There was no evidence presented the Appellant had ever physically or mentally harmed the children. The trial court improperly relied of non-qualified witnesses to make a finding of emotional harm by relying on the Guardian Ad Litem and the Appellee testimony. Both, who never conducted any type of objective evaluation in the children emotional state.

A. Court Granted Relief Not Requested

The Appellee failed to allege § 39.806(1)(c), as grounds to terminate parental rights. Courts are not authorized to award relief not requested in the pleadings. Romero v. Brabham, 300 So. 3d 665 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2020) To grant unrequested relief is an abuse of discretion by the trial court and is reversible error. Id. A court should not grant relief not requested in the pleadings absent proper notice to the parties. Granting unrequested relief absent proper notice is a violation of due process. U.S. Const. Amend. 14. Romero v. Brabham, 300 So. 3d 665 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2020) Trial court cannot award relief where it has not been pled. Musi v. Credo, LLC, 273 So. 3d 93 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Feb. 13, 2019) A trial court is without jurisdiction to award relief that was not requested in the pleadings or tried by consent. MTGLQ Invs., L. P. v. Moore, 293 So. 3d 610 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2020)A trial court is without jurisdiction to award relief that was not requested in the pleadings or tried by consent; therefore, a judgment which grants relief wholly outside the pleadings is void. Bank of Am., N.A. v. Nash, 200 So. 3d 131 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2016) Granting relief which was neither requested by

appropriate pleadings nor tried by consent is a violation of due process. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. *Id.*

The Appellee never pled during the trial he was intending to prove grounds under § 39.806(1)(c). The first time there was mention of this statute was during the oral ruling when the trial court added findings for grounds of termination under this statute.

B. Reliance of Non-Qualified Witness Statements to Establish Continuing Harm under § 39.806(c)

Under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c), the trial court overstepped its authority when it based its findings on non-qualified witness testimony to determine keeping the Appellant as the legal parent would cause future emotional and mental harm of the children because she was not capable of rehabilitation. There were no psychological evaluations performed for any of the children in this case nor was there any testimony given by a qualified professional who examined the children to make this type of finding. The trial court premises its findings from testimony given by the Appellee and the Guardian Ad Litem, who had only been assigned to the case for four (4) months and met with the children 3 times. Furthermore, the

scope of the guardian ad litems role was clearly addressed in the order of appointing guardian ad litem, which never included acting as an expert to determine continuing emotional harm of the children. Neither the Appellee nor the Guardian Ad Litem were qualified to make any finding of prospective emotional and mental harm to the children. The Appellant properly reserved this argument on the record. TR. 09/03/21 pp.40. It is well established in the law that a Guardian Ad Litem is not considered an expert for purposes of testifying that future emotional harm would occur if the Appellant's parental rights are not terminated because the Appellant was beyond rehabilitation. See S.S. v. D.L., 944 So. 2d 553, 558 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) ("We recognize that the guardian ad litem testified that S.S. was beyond rehabilitation. However, that opinion, which may yet turn out to be correct, was not expert."). Instead, the opposite was true. All experts who had been involved in the mother's care opined improvement was possible, and safe reunification remained both viable and reasonably foreseeable if the Appellant completed recommended treatment.

The Appellee's only qualified witness, Dr. Abarje determined the Appellant had the *capability to improve* with the correct treatment, as testified

APPELLANT COUNSEL:

Dr. Abarje, you give recommendations in your report because you suspect, if somebody follows those recommendations, their -- their condition will improve; correct?

DR ABARJE:

That is correct

APPELLANT COUNSEL:

All right. And you believe that if Ms. Wahler follows your recommendations, the ones that you gave, that her condition would improve; correct?

DR ABARJE:

Correct

APPELLEE COUNSEL:

It's not an entirely lost cause; is that true

DR ABARJE:

No....with significant treatment and patience, <u>most</u> patients will achieve significant improvement

TR. 09/23/21 pp. 34 & 35.

"Where the record demonstrates [that] a reasonable basis exists to find the parent's problems could be improved, parental rights cannot be terminated." *In the Interest of G.C.A.*, 863 So.2d 476, 479 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), quoting *M.H. v. Dept. of Children & Families*, 866 So.2d 220, 223 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). See *M.E. v. Florida Dept. of Children & Families*, 919 So.2d 637 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006).

C. No Threat of Continuing Harm

Further, the only testimony presented by a qualified witness, confirmed the children were *currently suffering* from not having the Appellant in their lives, as evidenced by the testimony of the children's therapist Dr. Jones, who made no statements that terminating the Appellants parental rights would alleviate the current harm to the children because the nature of the harm is the children's inability to see the Appellant. Further, Dr Jones had no knowledge of whether rehabilitation would be possible for the Appellant.

APPELLEE COUNSEL:

Is part of your treatment with the children addressing any emotional impact that they have had regarding their relationship with their mother?

DR JONES:

Yes.

APPELLEE COUNSEL:

Would you say that's the primary thing that you treat them for?

DR JONES:

Yes.

APPELLEE COUNSEL:

And do you believe, moving forward to the future, that that's something that you ought to continue treating them for?

DR JONES:

Yes.

APPELLEE COUNSEL:

Is one sub-topic of that addressing the lack of involvement that the mother has had in their lives?

DR JONES:

Yes.

TR. 09/23/21 pp. 12

Thus, terminating the Appellant as the *legal* parent would <u>not</u> alleviate the children's current suffering nor allowing the Appellant

to retain legal rights to her children would not harm them anymore then they currently were being harmed. The Appellant had not been able to have a meaningful relationship with the children over the past two (2) years.

It is illogical for the trial court to believe permanently removing the parents' legal rights and not allowing any chance for these two young children to ever reunite with the Appellant would alleviate continued harm to the children when evidence clearly demonstrates the children's current harm is a result of not being able to see the Appellant. Further, the termination of the Appellant's legal rights not only secures the children will have no hope to ever see the Appellant during their childhood, but it takes away the children's right to receive child support from the Appellant and terminates their inheritance rights. Thus, terminating the Appellant's parental rights clearly would cause the children more harm than they are already experiencing. Additionally, the type of harm alleged does not rise to the level of continuing harm in cases that have successfully argued emotional harm, as previously referenced.

Under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c), the trial court overstepped its authority when it based its findings on the Appellant's substance

abuse with no findings of a *nexus* between harm to the children and the Appellant's substance abuse, other than bringing closure to the young children's lives. The trial court flawed in finding that the need for closure in the children lives would threaten the life, safety, well-being, physical, mental or emotional harm to the children and meet the requirements under this section of the statute for grounds to terminate parental rights. To terminate parental rights on the ground of conduct, there must be a nexus between the conduct and the abuse, neglect, or specific harm to the child. West's F.S.A. § 39.806.*D.P. v. Dep't of Child. & Fam. Servs.*, 930 So. 2d 798 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006)

In the instant case, the most the trial court could find were a few isolated events years ago, such as on one occasion the Appellant got the children to school late because she was asleep or that the Appellant told the children during a video conference that she would see them soon and never did. There was no evidence over the past two years that the Appellant's conduct is directly harming the children. Thus, it can be concluded that any harm to the children is a direct result of not being able to see the Appellant.

The Appellee's argument that giving the young children closure would eliminate their current harm, is speculative at best. The trial court would have to justify this with evidence that would clearly and this. The predict certainty issue in termination of parental rights cases on ground that the parent's continuing involvement with children threatens their lives, safety, and well-being, irrespective of services offered, is whether future parental behavior, which will adversely affect the child, can be clearly and certainly predicted, i.e., whether it is likely to happen or expected. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c).Q.L. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams., 280 So. 3d 107 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019) There was qualified witness who offered testimony that closure would clearly and certainty eliminate the children emotional harm.

Cases who determined that a parents substance abuse was a main factor to grounds for termination of parental rights, were more concerned about finding permanency for the children. *W.N. v. Dep't of Child. & Fam. Servs.*, 919 So. 2d 589 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006). However, in the instant case, the children continue to reside in the care of the Appellee permanently. Thus, permanency is not an issue.

D. Reliance of Child Hearsay Statements to Meet Requirements Under § 39.806(c)

Under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c), the trial court overstepped its authority when child hearsay statements were relied on despite the standing objection on hearsay. Child hearsay statements brought as a statement under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 90.803 requires there to be a hearing on the reliability and unavailability on the child. During the trial Appellee argues these statements should come in under Adamson v. State, 569 So. 2d 495, 495 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1990) because the Appellee claims the Appellant opened the door by questioning the Appellee on the Guardian Ad Litem report during cross examination. However, the only question asked referencing the Guardian Ad Litem report was confined to the Appellee's role in how the children got the idea that the court would decide whether they could see the Appellant again. TR. 09/23/21, pp. 66 & 67. In Adamson v State, the trial court allowed proper limited inquiry to question asked on a statement that would otherwise be inadmissible hearsay. The trial court never opened the door to all statements that constitute inadmissible hearsay, as the trial court did in this case. The trial incorrectly relied on all the inadmissible hearsay statements

of the very young minor children for the determination that the Appellant had caused her children harm. Further, the trial court did not confine the children's statements to the limited statement about how the children would get the idea that the court would determine whether they could see the Appellant again. Thus, that should be the only statement that could be brought into evidence. The Appellant properly reserved the objection to hearsay, of the children's statements. TR. 09/03/21 pp.42.

E. Denial of Rebuttal Witness to Negate Facts Alleged under § 39.806(c)

Under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806(1)(c), the trial court overstepped its authority when the Appellants rebuttal witness was not allowed to rebut the testimony of the Guardian Ad Litem, to the likelihood of continued harm to the children. Appellant argues that a continuance should be granted to allow rebuttal evidence to rebut the statements of the Guardian Ad Litem, who testified outside the report, offering non-qualified testimony to prospective harm to the children. In response, the trial court denied the Appellants ore tenus motion to continue the trial claiming a continuance would be prejudicial to the children. However, there was no evidence suggesting how this would

be prejudicial to the children. TR.10/12/21 pp. 6-20. It is well established in Florida case law, the analysis in determining when to strike a witness or continue a trial. Before exercising its discretion to admit or exclude late-disclosed exhibits or witness testimony, trial court must analyze the following factors to determine whether the objecting party would be prejudiced: (i) the objecting party's ability to cure the prejudice or, similarly, his independent knowledge of the existence of the witness; (ii) the calling party's possible intentional, or bad faith, noncompliance with the pretrial order; and (iii) the possible disruption of the orderly and efficient trial of the case or other cases. Montero v. Corzo, 320 So. 3d 976 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2021). In the instant case, the trial court never applied this analysis and simply stated the children would be prejudiced.

The Appellant requested a continuance to allow the Appellee to take the deposition of the rebuttal witness, however, the trial court denied it, despite the Appellant reserving this argument for the record. It is important to note, the Appellant introduced a rebuttal witness after the "surprise in fact" testimony of the Guardian Ad Litem testifying outside the scope as a Guardian Ad Litem report. Yet,

the trial court, abused its discretion in not allowing the Appellant to provide testimony from their rebuttal witness.

To strike a parties witness is considered the most severe sanction. In a record in medical malpractice action brought by wife of deceased patient against hospital and surgeon did not support trial court's exclusion of testimony by wife's sole emergency resuscitation expert witness as to the possibility, raised by hospital and surgeon, that patient's respiratory failure was caused by inadvertent stimulation of the vagus nerve, despite contention that wife's designation of witness did not state that he would testify about vagus nerve; such testimony was inferable from designation that witness would discuss standard of care on resuscitation, and any surprise to hospital and surgeon could be remedied by means less drastic than exclusion of the testimony. Wax v. Tenet Health Sys. Hosps., Inc., 955 So. 2d 1 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006)

If a disclosed expert witness's trial testimony is even arguably within the scope of expected testimony disclosed in the designation of the witness, exclusion of the testimony by the witness should not be employed. *Id.* In the instances where a good faith misimpression as to the scope of a disclosed expert witness's testimony occurs, the

trial judge has other remedies besides exclusion of the disputed testimony to correct any injustice; these would include a delay in the testimony of that witness to allow additional discovery testimony of the proposed witness or, in an extreme case, giving the party claiming to have been aggrieved by the designation the right to call additional experts. Id. Coworker should have been allowed to testify in workers' compensation proceeding to rebut employer's misrepresentation defense, even though coworker was not on pretrial list of witnesses, where there was no showing or assertion of prejudice or other compelling circumstances warranting exclusion of that rebuttal witness. Walters v. Keebler Co., 652 So. 2d 976 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1995) Exclusion of unlisted witness' testimony is a drastic remedy which should pertain in only the most compelling circumstances. Id.

Unlisted witness should generally be allowed to testify when opposing party is not prejudiced by late disclosure and compelling circumstances are not otherwise shown. *Id.* Thus, the trial court should have allowed the testimony of the Appellant's rebuttal witness prior to relying on statements made by the Guardian Ad Litem for their final judgment.

IV. FAILURE TO ESTABLISH GROUNDS FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS UNDER § 39.806 (1)(j)

Under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806 (1)(j), the trial court did not have competent substantial evidence that the Appellant had refused or failed to complete available treatment (3) years prior to the filing of the petition for termination. The only evidence suggesting any agreement for treatment of the Appellant dated back to September 11, 2018 in the Final Judgment for Dissolution of Marriage and a 2nd agreement resolving the Supplemental Petition for Modification of Final Judgment that was entered into on May 19, 2020. However, there were no due dates, indicating when treatment was to be completed by nor was there any indication that failure to complete treatment by a specific date would result in the Appellee seeking termination of parental rights.

A. Improperly Allowing the Final Judgment to Serve as a Case Management Plan

Under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 39.806 (1)(j), the trial court improperly relies on facts never admitted into evidence to demonstrate the Appellant had suffered from issues with substance abuse since 2016. There was no evidence presented of any formalized agreement to treatment prior to 2018. Whether the Appellant has a history of

substance abuse, is irrelevant, to the issue of a refusal of available treatment during the (3) year period immediately preceding the filing of the petition for termination of parental rights. The trial court improperly relies on F.S. Chapter 61 consented final judgment in Appellant refused available determining the treatment substituting this agreement to take the place of a case management plan. It was clear that non-compliance of F.S. Chapter 61 consented final judgment would result in restricted contact with her children. However, there was no clauses indicating this F.S. Chapter 61 consented final judgment was going to serve as a case management plan to determine whether a single parent adoption and termination of parental rights would be pursued. There is no evidence of a breach of this agreement, other then no complying with drug testing for 52 weeks from the date the agreement was made. However, all other clauses never indicated any due dates that tasks were to be completed by nor did the Appellant consent to the failure of completing all task by March of 2021, would it result in terminating her parental legal rights.

The Appellant's Due Process was violated when her rights were terminated based on non-compliance of *F.S.* Chapter 61 consented

final judgment without *reasonable efforts* provided to her in achieving rehabilitation. Furthermore, this *F.S.* Chapter 61 consented final judgment did not give her any assistance, goal dates, deadlines to complete each task, and she was not given notice that her parental rights would be terminated if she breached this stipulation. The only notice the Appellant was given was after the petition for termination of parental rights was filed.

Termination of Parental Rights cases are generally of two types: those in which the child was adjudicated dependent and the parents were offered an opportunity to resume custody through substantial compliance with a case plan (see F.S. 39.806(1)(e); § 17.2.C), and those in which no case plan was offered to the parents (see F.S. 39.806(1)(a), (1)(b), (1)(c), (1)(d), (1)(f)-(1)(n); § 17.2.B).

The essence of the agreement was not understood nor believed that is would serve as a last measure for the Appellant to comply in furtherance of the Appellee seeking to terminate her parental rights. Thus, using this agreement as evidence to fulfill § 39.806 (1)(j), was flawed.

Essentially, the trial court attempted to use the *F.S.* Chapter 61 consented final judgment, in place of a *F.S.* Chapter 39 case plan.

Unlike, the F.S. Chapter 61 consented final judgment there are various requirements in a F.S. Chapter 39 case plan. Requirements for case plans are found in F.S. 39.6011

The Appellee's witness, Erica Ruiz, testified that because of COVID there was difficulty initially getting into in-patient treatment and the Appellant was seeking to meet the requirements from the May 2020 stipulation during the height of the COVID pandemic. TR 07/27/21 pp.97. Thus, the trial court did not place any weight on whether treatment had been available or was affected by COVID when determining the Appellant's parental rights should be terminated un 39.806(1)(j). Despite this, the facts fail to demonstrate that it had been (3) years preceding the filing of the petition for termination of parental rights on March 25, 2021.

V. TERMINATING THE APPELLANT'S PARENTAL RIGHTS IS NOT THE LEAST RESTRICTIVE MEANS

A. Children Were Currently Being Protected by the Family Court 2020 Final Judgment

Under the Least Restrictive Means analysis, Terminating the Appellants rights was not the least restrictive means when the children were not in foster care and had been living free of any harm with the Appellee for the past (2) years. There were no instances since the May 2020 stipulation was entered that would rise to the level of serious harm to the children. Thus, *F.S.* Chapter 61 consented final judgment had successfully worked to keep the children from harm for the past two years.

Multiple appellate districts have established a termination of parental rights would be the least restrictive means if it kept the children from serious harm. *Padgett v. Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services*, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991); *W.R. v. Dept. of Children & Families*, 928 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); *C.B. v. Dept. of Children & Families*, 874 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). However, evidence in the instant case, does not rise to the level of serious harm. Thus, the trial court failed to properly apply the least restrictive means analysis.

B. Failure to Prove Reasonable Efforts

Additionally, an important part of the least restrictive means test is the state's efforts to provide reasonable efforts to a parent while working on a case plan to be rehabilitated. Although the state was not involved in this case, the Appellee attempts to replace the normal method of rehabilitation, by use of a case plan, with the *F.S.* Chapter

61 consented final judgment. Thus, the Appellee should have provided evidence of his reasonable efforts to assist the Appellant in achieving rehabilitation. It is well established in case law for all districts in Florida, the burden of the department to demonstrate reasonable efforts as an integral part of the least restrictive means test. Appellate Courts, specifically seek out actions were taken by before the State filing petition a to terminate the parent's rights." S.M. v. Florida Dept. of Children & Families, 202 So.3d 769, 778 (Fla. 2016). To meet this standard, the department "ordinarily must show that it has made a good faith effort to rehabilitate the parent and reunite the family." Padgett, 577 So.2d at 571. This prong is generally satisfied by DCF offering the parent a case plan and providing the parent with the help and services necessary to complete the case plan. S.M., 202 So.3d at 778. "To satisfy the least restrictive means prong, DCF must 'ordinarily' prove that before it files a petition to terminate the parent's rights, DCF made a 'good faith effort to rehabilitate the parent and reunite the family." S.M., 202 So.3d at 788, quoting Florida Dept. of Children & Families v. F.L., 880 So.2d 602, 609 (Fla.2004).

Under unique circumstances, the state does not have to provide a case plan to a parent. Under [F.S. 39.806(2)], reasonable efforts to preserve and reunify families are not required when termination is proven under sections 39.806(1)(b) through (d) or (f) through (m)." In *In the Interest of T.M.*, 641 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1994), the court held that TPR without the use of plans or agreements was the least restrictive alternative in cases of severe or continuing abuse or neglect or in cases of egregious abuse. See *In the Interest of Z.C.(1)*, 88 So.3d 977 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012), disapproved in part on other grounds 192 So.3d 592. However, the instant case does not meet the criteria for these exceptions.

Furthermore, there were no issues of permanency for the children. The children were not at any risk that would validate not allowing the Appellant more time to comply with a proper treatment program which all parties testified could improve the Appellants condition. Unlike well-established case law, where the appellate court found the Department of Children and Families failed to prove that any measures short of termination would have been appropriate, as required for termination of mother's parental rights; there was no impediment to allowing mother time to undergo further therapy and

submit to psychological evaluation, as foster parents, including relatives, expressed willingness to continue to foster children. *I.T. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams.*, 277 So. 3d 678 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019). *I.T. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams* demonstrates the intent behind least restrictive means, suggesting the issue of permanency and stability for children as one of the main considerations in a termination for parental rights.

In the instant case, like *I.T. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams*, the children had been permanently residing with the Appellee and would continue to reside with him. Thus, there was no reason to not allow the Appellant more time to seek treatment, prior to the termination of her parental rights. The trial court failed to establish any measures short of termination to be used to protect the child from harm. Further, the trial court solely relies on the testimony of non-qualified guardian ad litem, who has never worked in a dependency case and recommended termination of parental rights to give the children closure. There was no testimony given by any witness to establish serious harm on the children as a result of maintaining her legal parental rights. Specifically, there was no therapist who could provide testimony to

any serious harm the Appellant had perpetrated onto the children in two (2) years.

Although, the trial court attempts to justify their ruling by claiming the Appellant was given multiple chances to comply with treatment. The trial court fails to recognize the assistance a parent receives from the state in a case management plan, which includes financial assistance, goal dates, clear understanding of the intent behind each case plan, among many other assistive measures assumed by the state to demonstrate the state met their burden to provide reasonable efforts in assisting parents to achieve rehabilitation. Thus, how can the trial court determine the Appellant was not in compliance when there were no goals dates indicated putting her on notice to when various tasks should be completed.

The trial court failed to properly apply the least restrictive means test when there was no evidence from the Appellee as to reasonable efforts made to assist the Appellant in achieving rehabilitation nor was there any evidence the Appellant met the criteria for the exception to not be afforded a case plan prior to the termination of her parental rights.

The trial court finds that there is no reasonable basis to believe the parent will improve". However, the trial court fails to address improvement was unlikely even with *good faith efforts to assist the parent. See E.R. v. Dep't of Children & Family Servs.*, 937 So.2d 1196, 1198–99 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); *accord L.A.G. v. Dep't of Children & Family Servs.*, 963 So.2d 725, 727 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (reversing a termination of parental rights where the record was "replete with" evidence of the mother's efforts to comply with the case plan). *D.M. v. Dep't of Child. & Fams.*, 79 So. 3d 136, 139 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012) Thus, the Appellant, was never given good faith efforts by a 3rd party, such as the state, in achieving rehabilitation.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments and citations of authority cited herein, this Honorable Court should VACATE the trial court's Final Judgment for Termination of Parental Rights and remand this cause to the trial court for further proceedings consistent herein.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to the font and size requirements

set forth in Fla. R. App. P. 9.210(a)(2), the Appellant's Initial Brief is

in compliance with the requirements set forth in Florida Rule of

Appellate Procedure 9.045(b), in that the foregoing Initial Brief was

prepared using Bookman Old Style, 14- point.

By: /s/ Leslie A Ferderigos

LESLIE A FERDERIGOS

Florida Bar 0127526

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was

furnished by e-mail to all attorneys/interested parties identified in

the Portal Electronic Service List on this 19 day of January 2022.

By:

/s/ Leslie A Ferderigos LESLIE A FERDERIGOS

Florida Bar 0127526

46